
 
1 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET 
 
MINUTES OF CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
AND SCRUTINY PANEL MEETING 
 
Thursday, 21st March, 2024 

 
Present:- Councillors Andy Wait, Michael Auton, Alex Beaumont, John Leach, 
June Player, Duncan Hounsell (in place of Jess David), Shaun Hughes (in place of Grant 
Johnson) and Sam Ross (in place of Saskia Heijltjes) 
 
Apologies for absence: Councillors: Anna Box and Ian Halsall 
 

  
53    WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
  

54    EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Chair drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure. 

  
55    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Councillor Halsall gave his apologies. 
Councillor David gave her apologies and was substituted by Councillor Hounsell. 
Councillor Johnson gave his apologies and was substituted by Councillor Hughes. 
Councillor Heijltjes gave her apologies and was substituted by Councillor Ross. 
  

56    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
  

57    TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
There was none. 
  

58    ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF THIS MEETING  
 
Carey Gilliand, Chair of Oldfield Park Community Alliance made a statement 
regarding the ‘Oldfield Park ETRO consultation and decision’. 
 
Councillor Leach asked about permits for staff and customers. Mr Gilliand explained 
that there were standard business permits for some staff and some for visitors. 
Regarding how staff travel to work and park, Mr Gilliand explained that this was 
difficult, he has re-registered his car to the business. There are some temporary 
permits and some people use the Park and Ride – some have been put off travelling 
from a distance.  
 



 

 
2 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

Councillor Player asked if there was the right balance of dual use places. Mr Gilliand 
stated that the balance needs adjustment and updates will always be required. There 
were 15 dual use spaces originally – a couple of tweaks would be useful. 
  

59    MINUTES  
 
The Panel confirmed the minutes of the previous meetings as a true record and they 
were duly signed by the Chair. 
  

60    CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  
 
Councillor Sarah Warren, Deputy Council Leader (statutory) and Cabinet Member for 
Climate Emergency and Sustainable Travel gave the following update: 
 
Forest for the Nation 
Forest of Avon, B&NES and Natural History Consortium have led on the 
development of a Forest for the Nation bid to DEFRA, submitted on 17th March. 
If successful at the first stage, we will be awarded £150k to develop a full business 
case alongside three other applicants. This will be announced in April. 
B&NES is the lead local authority in the bid. The area covers Western Gateway 
(Wiltshire, Gloucestershire and WoE) significant support from wide range of partners. 
The winner will be announced in the autumn, with the successful bid awarded £9m 
over 5 years. 
 
UKSPF  
B&NES facilitated a workshop to promote the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to Parish 
Councils and community groups in Bath & Northeast Somerset. Parishes and town 
councils in Bath & North East Somerset will benefit from a total of £260,000 to help 
install energy-saving measures like solar panels and air-to-air source heat 
pumps. Successful bids will be announced shortly and we're looking forward to 
seeing support for a range of retrofit, renewables and GI projects.   
 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
The Consultation Draft of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) for the West 
of England (including North Somerset) was sent to B&NES Council for review, in its 
role as a Supporting Authority. The Sustainable Places Board, on behalf of B&NES 
Council has agreed to consultation on the LNRS proceeding, which is expected to 
begin shortly. The Consultation will provide the public with an opportunity to provide 
feedback on identified biodiversity priorities and mapped 'focus areas' for nature 
recovery across the region. Following consultation, an updated version of the LNRS 
will be produced for publication later this year. 
 
Green Heritage Homes 
The Green Heritage Homes project has gone live this week. The project is a 
partnership between Bath and West Community Energy, B&NES and Bath 
Preservation Trust, to enable retrofit of listed buildings in a way that is appropriate for 
their fabric and heritage, through practical advice and positive planning policies. We 
have a planning officer now focused on applications for retrofit of listed homes. They 
can provide "level 0" pre-planning advice, coupled with BWCE's bespoke retrofit 
assessments for households. 



 

 
3 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

 
Clean Air Zone 
Bath Clean Air Zone, the first charging CAZ in the country which reached its 3rd 
anniversary last week, is improving air quality. Government’s Joint Air Quality Unit 
announced last week that we have achieved "State 3" of 4, the first CAZ in the 
country to reach this status, with an average reduction of 27% in annual mean NO2 
concentration across all 125 local diffusion tube test sites. 
Climate Engagement 
Climate Hub are holding their Springtime Assembly this weekend 22nd-24th March, 
with a collective of green organisations gathering to share information and ideas for 
a low carbon, nature positive future. The event is free to attend. 
Climate Youth Summit 8th March - I attended with officers working on the Active 
Travel masterplan and we took the opportunity to consult with a small group of young 
people from local schools on the barriers they experience to adopting active and 
independent modes of travel 
 
Strategic Transport Updates 
- Somer Valley Links  

• OBC was approved at the West of England Combined Authority Committee 
on 26 January 2024.   

• an important step-forward in the development of a project that will improve the 
infrastructure for walking, wheeling, and cycling, as well as buses, bringing 
greater and more genuine travel choices to the region.  

• Future stages of this project will be developed and delivered directly by 
B&NES, giving greater opportunity to work with our communities.   

• Work is now ongoing to review the proposals following feedback from the 
public engagement undertaken in 2023 and we will look to engage with 
communities again later this year.   

- Midsomer Norton and Westfield 
• Work has started to develop proposals improve walking, wheeling, and 

cycling links in Midsomer Norton and Westfield.   
• Improvements to two routes defined in the Local Cycling and Walking 

Investment Plan (LCWIP) will be developed using £150k of CRSTS funding, 
with a total of £1.5m allocated to the project and its delivery, subject to 
approval of a Full Business Case.   

• Public engagement will take place later in 2024.   
- A4 Bath to Bristol Strategic Corridor (A4 BBSC)  

• Approval given at the West of England Combined Authority Committee 
meeting on 15 March 2024 to begin the next phase of work to develop the 
proposals further.   

• We will work closely with WECA to ensure that the views of communities 
along the route are heard and positive further development of 
important improvements to the corridor to provide alternative travel choices 
can be undertaken. 

- Scholars Way  



 

 
4 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

• recently approved £2m of funding from the CAZ reserve to deliver the western 
section of the scheme.  

• We continue to investigate funding sources to deliver the eastern section. 
- School Streets  

• we recently approved £250k funding from the CAZ reserve to begin the 
development of a School Streets programme.  

• We anticipate being able to introduce a pilot scheme during 24/25 and are 
developing an engagement strategy to inform our prioritisation. 

•  
- Active Way - The social prescribing pilot has now engaged over 550 people in 

activities such as inclusive cycling, wellbeing walks, led rides, 1-1 cycle training, 
buggy walks, and walk and talk sessions. The Willson Grant projects will 
be commencing in spring.  

 
- Local Plan - A suite of transport documents have been developed to support the 

Local Plan. These reports include the following: 
- Transport Vision and Objectives - We need to ensure that people can get to 

where they need to go and are able to access the facilities and services that they 
need, as sustainably as possible.This document sets how we can do this.  

- Overarching Transport Context - The Local Plan provides the opportunity to 
develop a set of transport interventions which respond to the forecast growth, 
whilst simultaneously benefitting existing residents and visitors to the district in 
delivering a step change to the active mode and public transport networks.  

- Network Mobility Study - defines existing transport characteristics, opportunities 
and challenges that exist within the B&NES district.  

 
- Transport Strategies (Journey to Net Zero Plans) - Journey to Net Zero (JNZ) 

Transport Plans are being prepared for the following places as potential locations 
for growth: 

• Hicks Gate 
• Keynsham and Saltford 
• Somer Valley 
• Whitchurch Village 
 
- Active Travel Masterplan - set out the existing and future network of active travel 

infrastructure required to enable and provide for sustainable and healthy forms of 
transport, as well as addressing the climate emergency, reducing inequalities, 
improving air quality, tackling obesity and reducing traffic congestion across Bath 
and North EastSomerset. 

 
Panel members asked the following questions: 
 
(Councillor Leach stated that he was a trustee of the Climate Hub) 



 

 
5 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

 
Councillor Hounsell stated that he was promised a report on the outcomes of the 

public consultation regarding the WECA A4 corridor study. He asked if this 
feedback was available yet. The Cabinet Member stated that it had not been 
available but she would chase this up. 

 
Councillor Ross asked about the Citizens Panel in 2022 regarding Claverton Down 

and asked if this project had been started. The Cabinet Member stated that all 
routes will be mapped out as a circulation plan for the city is being worked out. 
The priorities will be laid out but there is no funding at present. 

 
Councillor Ross asked for an update on School Streets and suggested a Task Group 

to include Panel members from this Panel and the Children, Adults, Health and 
Wellbeing Panel. The Cabinet Member stated that she would be happy to work 
with the group but the projects would be dependent on funding. 

 
Councillor Ross asked for an account of how the revenue from the CAZ (Clean Air 

Zone) is spent, especially regarding sustainable transport projects/car clubs etc. 
The Cabinet Member explained that this information was in the public domain and 
if not, she will provide it.  

 
Councillor Ross asked if there could be discounts for blue badge holders and 

families for cycle hangers. The Cabinet Member stated that she could ask WECA 
as they lead the project.  

 
Councillor Manda Rigby, Cabinet Member for Highways gave the following update: 
 
Update from last meeting: 
General update  

A very busy period for all operational services dealing with the adverse weather 
and the impacts. Significant flooding events on and off highway stretched the 
available resources. 
Proactive gulley cleaning in multiple areas covered 3730 gulleys with 30% of 
this number reactive response to flooding events on the network.  
Long term impacts of the flooding events being assessed but a number of roads 
will require significant work to be undertaken. 
  

• Traffic management, Network Management, road safety 
Procurement of new systems for managing Traffic Regulation Orders to 
increase accessibility for all members of the public to the proposals  
2023 – 3420 Traffic Regulation Orders processed and implemented 
(Temporary, Experimental and Permanent)  
Submitted bid to DfT for traffic signals maintenance funding to help address 
aging and obsolete traffic signals infrastructure 
Trialling new wireless technology for vehicle and cycle detection at traffic 
signals which, if successful, could mean fewer detection faults and cheaper 



 

 
6 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

maintenance compared to traditional detectors cut into the road surface that are 
cabled back to the traffic signal controller. 

• Transport Improvement Programme 
 Working on the completion of Traffic Improvement Programme for 23/24 

 Pre-mobilisation work for 24/25 programme in progress – significant programme 
to deliver 
 Resource planning in place for programme 

• Parking 
Development of new parking charging proposals – paper submitted  
Continuation of new Pay & Display machines installation to replace our end of 
life technology.  

• Liveable Neighbourhoods delivery 
 Work progressing on development of 5 further ETRO schemes  
 Comms  

3k letters issued to community around NSP ETRO scheme  
Held meetings with stakeholders - National Highways, Holburne 
Museum, Macdonald Bath Spa Hotel, Bathwick St Mary Primary 
school- whilst there are mixed views, meetings were generally positive. 

• Highway Maintenance 
CAZ funded resurfacing improvements around Queen Square, Old King Street 
and Queens Parade Place completed  
Footway paving improvements in Queen Suare in progress. 
Resurfacing programme for 23/24 completed  
Winter maintenance and gritting work continuing –  

Our 9 gritters have completed 50 runs so far spreading nearly 2000 
tonnes of road salt 
New salt barn completed at Pixash HWRC and filled with road salt 
stocks in line with DfT best practice 

 
Forward plan of work for next period 
 
• Traffic Management, Network Management, road safety 
 Implementation of new TRO software system 
 Complete procurement of temporary additional staff resource to enable delivery 

of 24/25 TIP 
 Procurement of new bus stop maintenance contract 
 Action plan for Vision Zero 
• Transport Improvement Programme 

Commencement of delivery of TIP programme - £2.8m of work (compared to 
usual £1.1m)  

• Parking 
 Public consultation on new parking charges  
 Implementation of outcomes  
 Completion of machine instal programme  
 Implementation of Moving Traffic Enforcement 

Complete procurement for ANPR camera enforcement system used to monitor 
bus lanes, moving traffic and support CEOs patrolling permit areas.  

• Liveable Neighbourhoods delivery 
 Guildhall event on 20 March.  

Further letter to follow later in March around road closures over Easter Holidays 
for work to be undertaken. 



 

 
7 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

• Highway Maintenance 
 Transfer of 5x gritters to Pixash HWRC to increase operational flexibility 
 Commencement of delivery of 24/25 resurfacing programme 
 
 

Further information is available to view on the B&NES website where consultation 
is ongoing as part of the wider Local Plan Regulation 18 Issues and Options 
consultation. 
The Transport Policy team have attended a number of public consultation events 
as part of the current Local Plan consultation which has provided the opportunity 
to discuss transport issues and opportunities with the wider community. Through 
these efforts, we aim to ensure that transportation considerations are thoroughly 
considered and integrated into the planning process, delivering sustainable and 
efficient mobility solutions for our community. 

 
Panel members asked the following questions: 
 
Councillor Hounsell asked if a process was needed for pavements to bring them in 
line with the good record on roads and streets. The Cabinet Member explained that 
work is being done on assessing pavements and there is a history of 
underinvestment. In Heritage areas, work can be expensive. In rural areas the plan 
is to put in sustainable materials. She asked the ward Councillors contact her with 
any issues that can be added to an ongoing list.  
 
Councillor Player asked why workers cannot deal with all potholes in the same area 
rather than working on some and leaving others. The Cabinet Member stated that 
she would take the query back but she explained that the worst potholes had to be 
dealt with first.  
 
Councillor Player made a plea for an upgrade to pedestrian friendly lights on the 
Lower Bristol Road as it is busy and polluted. The Cabinet Member stated that she 
would take the comment back and would ask an officer to get back to Councillor 
Player regarding road resurfacing in Westmoreland ward. 
 
Councillor Ross asked about a review of paper parking permits. The Cabinet 
Member stated that this was not on the workplan list – the level of money saved on 
this set against the time it would take for a review means it is not the top priority. 
 
Councillor Ross stated that the RUH had recently amended their staff parking, the 
Cabinet Member stated that BANES would be working on a similar scheme.  
 
Councillor Ross asked what is being done to attract people to parking services 
enforcement jobs. The Cabinet Member explained that there is a monthly report 
which states where civil enforcement officers go. She is confident, regarding 
Residents Parking Zones, that enough enforcement is done within the budget.  
 
Councillor Ross asked about two areas in Walcot that had requested reviews. The 
Cabinet Member explained that there would be an overarching RPZ review.  
 



 

 
8 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

The Chair thanked the Cabinet Members. 
  

61    IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CAR PARKING PROPOSALS AGREED IN THE 
BUDGET  
 
The Cabinet Member for Highways, Councillor Manda Rigby gave a presentation 
which included the following: 
 

• Parking Charges 2024/25 
• Air Pollution and Air Quality 
• Emission-based charges in BANES 
• Proposals agreed in 2024/25 budget 
• Outline timeline. 
• Actions requested from the Panel 

 
Panel members made the following points and asked the following questions: 
 
Councillor Hughes asked for confirmation that Midsomer Norton car park scheme 
would include a 2-hour free period and shop owners permit. The Cabinet Member 
explained that no decisions had been made, options are being shown during the 
consultation, a TRO cannot be prejudged. She confirmed that a 2-hour free period 
has never been confirmed – it is an option in the consultation. 
 
Councillors Hughes stated that he felt that residents of Midsomer Norton had been 
misled in that the report mentions only 30 minutes free, he asked how this would 
improve footfall. He also stated that clean air could not be an excuse as there is not 
a pollution issue in the area. The Cabinet Member stated that there is no safe level 
of pollution and everyone should be kept safe, especially vulnerable people.  
 
Councillor Hughes stated that emissions-based parking charges penalise poorer 
people who cannot afford electric cars. The Cabinet Member stated that at some 
stage, when older cars are no longer driveable – we would like people to consider 
less polluting cars.  
 
Councillor Ross asked if the consultation would involve the school in Midsomer 
Norton as the car park is used for drop off and pick up. The Cabinet Member 
explained that the consultation would try to capture as wide a population as possible 
and yes, the school would be contacted.  
 
Councillor Auton stated that, when he started his 2-hour campaign he did not want 
there to be any charges but aspired to 2 hours free parking if there must be charging. 
He urged everyone to take part in the consultation. He stated that he had not 
claimed that his engagement was scientific and he is working on behalf of those he 
has spoken to. 
 
Councillor Ross asked about 30 minutes on street parking in the city. She asked if 
charges could start at 1 hour. The officer stated that there is support for the higher 
turnover for on street parking in the city. Charging is driven by the amenity in the 
area.  
 



 

 
9 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

Councillor Hughes asked about motorcycles and why they would have to pay £15 to 
park in Bath. The Cabinet Member stated that motorcycles take up the same space 
as a car and are as polluting as a car. The report shows the clear timeline on this.  
 
Councillor Ross asked how Park and Ride charges are enforced for people who just 
park. The Cabinet Member stated that there would be a review of Park and Ride 
services and exciting future options. There is not constant enforcement. A new 
system could mean that people pay before they get on the bus and enter their 
registration number. 
 
Councillor Ross asked if everything is based on air quality data rather than footfall 
data. The Cabinet Member explained that air quality data is used. We do take 
measurements but cannot always gather the more granular information. The officer 
explained that parking enforcement coverage in rural areas has been increasing and 
that new pay and display machines will help to monitor car parks. It is preferred that 
enforcement officers are in residential areas.  
 
Councillor Hughes asked if there had been any modelling of the impact of parking 
charges in Midsomer Norton. He stated that some smaller car parks are now 
charging. Many people will start parking in the Sainsburys and the Sport Centre. The 
Cabinet Member stated that it will depend on the feedback from the consultation – 
wider impacts will be taken into account but it is difficult to predict how people will 
react to the changes.  
 
Councillor Wait stated that it is useful to remember the philosophy and principle 
behind the work that is being done and that implementations can be difficult. He 
urged all to take part in the consultation and thanked the Cabinet Member and 
officer.  
  

62    BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL PLAN OPTIONS  
 

Councillor Matt McCabe, Cabinet Member for Built Environment and 
Sustainable Development and Richard Daone, Deputy Head of Planning 
(Policy) introduced the report and gave a presentation which covered the 
following: 
 
 

• BANES Local Plan Options 
• Local Plan Purpose and Scope 
• Local Plan Spatial Priorities 
• Structure of Options Document 
• Housing and Employment need 
• Map – showing location of site options for consultation 
• Development Management Policy Options 
• Local Plan Preparation Programme 

 
Panel members made the following points and asked the following questions: 
 
Councillor Hounsell asked if the Cabinet Member was satisfied that a suitable 
amount of brownfield sites have been used and asked if Charmey Down Airfield site 



 

 
10 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

been considered. The officer stated that a lot of work has been done regarding 
brownfield sites – the vast majority of housing is on brownfield sites. The initial view 
is that we will need some greenfield options. Regarding Charmey Down, the officer 
explained that this was in the green belt and also in the Cotswalds Area landscape 
and so would be controversial. The owners are Wessex Water.  
 
Councillor Hounsell asked if sufficient sites are being consulted on. The officer stated 
that a wide range of sites are being consulted on – this is just the list of the large site 
options. He explained that a proportion of our growth arises through students, so 
student accommodation reduces the need for general accommodation.  
 
Councillor Hughes stated that some of his residents are struggling to engage with 
the consultation (the extended time is appreciated). He has concerns that the 
feedback will not be a true picture. The officer stated that it is difficult to get 
representative engagement – there have been a mixture of drop in events in relevant 
places and videos on the website etc. Efforts have been made to make the 
information accessible, over 2,000 comments have been received and there are still 
over 3 weeks left.  
 
Councillor Beaumont added that many of his elderly residents have struggled to 
access online consultation and asked if forms can be provided in the future. The 
officer stated that the Council is moving towards online based consultations. He 
accepted the comment about forms but added that the system of collecting and 
analysing feedback has to be efficient. Councillor Wait stated that Councillor MacFie 
is producing paper forms for his ward.  
 
Councillor Leach stated that ‘reducing emissions’ is clearly the priority in the report 
where it should be ‘climate resilience’ in his view. He stated that future climate 
consideration should be built into the planned developments. The Cabinet Member 
stated that Wessex Water have raised the issue of extra water falling in the future 
and where it will go. He explained that he is looking to reduce emissions in the 
supply chain but there is a delicate balance to tread – the plan will be reviewed in 5 
years so updates can be made. Councillor Leach stated that he agreed we should be 
driving to net zero but we need to make sure developments will be habitable in the 
future – developers will not have accountability in many years’ time.  
 
Councillor Hounsell asked if the community strategy aim that developments should 
promote health and well being is being considered. The officer agreed that this was a 
factor that is looked at. 
 
Councillor Hounsell spoke about some problems with the online consultation – there 
were no diagrams, it only accepted a few sentences and ‘submit’ did not work. He 
acknowledged that there had now been an extension but asked if public confidence 
had been undermined and a dummy run could be considered. The officer explained 
that systems had been tested and that there had been some issues with the main 
website for a few days. He acknowledged the point. The Cabinet Member apologised 
for the issues. 
 
Councillor Player asked about the option of the 500 new homes in Farrington Gurney 
– she stated that this would be a huge increase and there could be issues with 
integration. The officer explained that this had only been presented as a possible 



 

 
11 

Climate Emergency and Sustainability Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 21st March, 2024 
 

option and that a development must be on this scale to support a new primary school 
for example. He explained that all of the options have challenges.  
 
Councillor Ross stated that parish councillors are finding it hard to access the online 
consultation and it does not show up on the home page. She further stated that as 
Chair of the ‘Food Security’ task group there are some key issues around allotments 
and food growing spaces. She stated that there was a lack of consistency in the 
Local Plan regarding this land use and asked if it was a mistake to include these 
food growing spaces in the options document. The officer stated that if these spaces 
have been assessed then they must have been submitted.  
 
Councillor Hughes stated that the Farrington Gurney option is raising questions due 
to the lack of detail (information on nursery’s/shops etc) and there is no data on the 
effects or transport modelling. The Cabinet Member stated that it was a chicken and 
egg situation – picking up local views and knowledge is what the consultation is for.  
The officer confirmed that we are at the options stage which is the early stage. 
 
Councillor Hughes asked about the site options on the West of Bath, the Cabinet 
Member explained that the site came forward as the wish of the steering group but 
we would need to know the benefits of the area.  
 
The Chair thanked the Cabinet Member and officer.  
  

63    PANEL WORKPLAN  
 
Panel members noted the future workplan and noted that they ‘Food Security’ task 
group would report back in May. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.19 pm  
 

Chair(person)  
 

Date Confirmed and Signed  
 

Prepared by Democratic Services 
 


